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Mr. Legge laid down the lines on which, to a great extent, the church work was to continue.
In addition to his vocational work he must have had artistic ability, because later he painted
and gilded the front of the original altar for the church (not the present one).

Mr. Legge had the Marsh Green School renovated, and together with the Beech Hill School,
he used it for services until the new Martland Bridge School, costing £1,044 and holding 180
children, was opened on February 11th, 1872. This latter school was placed where it would
serve both the Marsh Green and the Wigan side. Services continued to be held there until
1882 and children were taught there until 1894. It then reverted to Sir Francis Sharp Powell,
the original donor of the site (whose statue is in Mesnes Park), who made a handsome donation
to the new school. The old school was eventually pulled down, and houses now stand upon its
site. In 1875 Mr. Legge built a working men’s club in Canal Street. The club failed, so he turned
it into the first half of the Canal Street School. The building was doubled in size in 1877 and
used as an Infant School until 1894, when Mr. D. McKay relieved the trustees of it and turned
it into a shippon ! The Beech Hill School has also been replaced by houses. Thus nothing now
remains to the parish of the buildings of Mr. Legge’s time.

The foundation stone of the Martland Bridge School (in those days spelt Markland Bridge)
was laid by Miss Darlington in 1871. According to the local paper of that time the scholars
marched to the site from the Beech Hill and Marsh Green Schools, and after the ceremony
* were provided with refreshments in the form of buns and dismissed to their homes.”

The Martland Bridge School was first open for Divine Service on Sunday, 11th February,
1872. Many Social evenings, Concerts and Congregational Tea Parties werc held in this
building. All these efforts were to finance the upkeep of this *“ School-Church,” and to clear
the debts. Mr. Walter Parratt was the Sunday School Superintendent until 1872 at the same
time holding the post of organist and choirmaster of Wigan Parish Church. He then went to
Magdalen College Oxford receiving a testimonial from St. Andrew's people, and leaving behind
the memory of his good work and drastic methods of dealing with offenders. He was later to
become Sir Walter Parratt, professor at the Royal College of Music, Organist of St. George's
Chapel, Windsor, and Master of the Queen’s Music.

Mr. Legge held a big Bazaar in 1877 ; it was opened by Lady Lindsay and realised the
amazing total of £1,000. It is interesting to compare the articles sold with those of the present
day. They included : elegant fender stools, an ebony and gold drawing room chair, a banner
screen mounted on a gold stand, an album on easel with steel mountings, tea cosies, anti-
macassars, stuffed birds, ornamental baskets, brackets, woollen shawls, lace work, scent
bottles, etc., etc., and in addition a stall was provided ‘* for the accommodation of those who
wish to refresh the inner man.”

In his letter appealing for support of the Bazaar, Mr. Legge mentions that a site had been
secured in Woodhouse Lane to cost about £240, on which it was proposed to build a Church.
This, when finished, would cost about £8,000 and seat over six hundred people. The Bishop
had given his approval and sent a donation. The Rose Bridge and Douglas Bank Coal Company
and others had promised to subscribe.

Mr. Legge resigned the living in 1878 although he was then only thirty-nine years of
age. He died in 1906 aged sixty-seven. When he left, St. Andrew’s had £1,000 in the bank.
In addition he had straightened off all debts of the school out of his own pocket.

5+







Mentioned in the letter was the population of the district—about 2,000 consisting chiefly
of colliers and ironworkers. There was no Church, no Parsonage house, but three schools.
In one of these, holding only 150, services had been held for some years. The income was
£150 per annum which would be capable of increase when the Church was consecrated. It
was also mentioned that the Foundation Stone would be laid in June that year.

The first Parish magazine was introduced in May of the same year (1879). Some statistical
figures were included in it ; ninety-seven candidates had been confirmed during Mr. Legge’s
incumbency whilst on April 5th of 1879 another fifty were presented to the Bishop. The Vicar
formed a Sunday afternoon guild, open to all who had been confirnmed, the subject of instruction
being the Holy Communion service.

On the Tuesday after Whitsun (3rd June, 1879) at 3 p.m. the Foundation Stone of the
Church was laid by the Rev. Canon Bridgeman, Rector of Wigan ; F. S. Powell, Esq., of Horton
Hall ; Thomas Knowles, Esq., M.P., and Mr. James Hill, collier, of Marsh Green. They repre-
sented respectively ** Clergy,” ‘“ Land,” *‘ Capital,” and ‘‘ Labour.” The Parishioners nobly
rose to the occasion ; banners and flags were flown from the houses and many turned out to
witness the proceedings. The children belonging to the Day and Sunday Schools assembled in
the Canal Street School and, headed by the robed choir, more than twenty clergy, and their
teachers, marched to the site of the new Church. The Mayor was in attendance and so was
the Rev. A. A. K. Legge.

In the cavity of the stone was deposited a bottle containing copies of the local newspapers
and a document with a brief history of the rise and progress of the Church of England in St.
Andrew'’s district. The hymn ** The Church’s one foundation is Jesus Christ her Lord ’ was
sung. This is still sung outside the Church on our Walking Days, before the procession moves
off, thus providing a link with the past. The Foundation Stone lies beneath the centre east
window (as it were behind the altar) and may be seen on the outside wall of the Church within
the Churchyard. In the evening of the same day a special service was held in All Saints’ Parish
Church at which the Rev. W. A. Wickham preached.

The work of building (Mr. W. Winnard was the builder and Mr. Varty the clerk of works)
progressed quite merrily until September, 1880. It then came to a standstill for want of funds.
The shell of the nave and chancel had been roofed in, but, as the committee did not intend
spending money upon temporary enclosures, it was decided to let the building remain as it was

until further funds became available. £1,000 was needed, but £600 would allow the work of
building to proceed.

Nearly 20,000 appeals were now sent out. The state of desperation is realised when one
reads the headings on some of these appeals: * In order to save expense in printing you will
oblige by returning this circular . . . . If you can please help us, and if you can do no more,
be so kind as to send us stamps to cover postage . . . . Churchmen are earnestly asked not
to allow a good work to languish for lack of £600.”

To make matters more difficult there was a big coal strike in the Spring of 1881. So the
Vicar sent out more begging letters to all parts of England ; some of the replies he received
make amusing reading. One man wrote that he had no wish to support a church which had
as its patron the Rector of Wigan. Another sent 6d. in money, but forgot to register his letter,
for which the Vicar had to pay 8d. A Churchwarden wrote that he could do nothing for St.
Andrew's because in his parish ‘' the amicable Rector had locked up the church and refuses
to give up the key to anyone—even the Churchwardens.”

Four items of Church property, in use at the present time, date back to these days. The
prayer desk in the chapel was bought for Mr. Legge’s use as far back as 1874. The Cr'oss placed
over the high altar, the present Bishop’s Chair in the Sanctuary (originally a Bishop's throne),
and the Chalice and paten (Communion vessels) which had been used in the Martland Bridge
School-Church.
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Even though the process of building had temporarily been suspended, St. Andrew’s was
still very much alive. The Bishop of Liverpool paid a visit on All Saints’ day 1881. The following
is quoted from the ** Wigan Observer”’ of that time : “ Evensong was at 7 p.m. and the Church-
School was well filled. The service was, as usual, fully choral and very hearty. The Psalms and
Gospel Canticles were sung to Gregorian tones and several members of St. Andrew’s Band
were present to accompany the Hymns and Canticles. The altar was bright with flowers and
flanked by pots of ferns. The service was sung by the Vicar and the Revs. H. C. Bull, ]J.
Crofts and R. Walmesley also assisted. The Bishop preached and gave the Benediction from

a Throne erected on the south of the Church, which was surmounted by a canopy ten fect
high

It is interesting to note that the Rev. R. Walmesley was in charge of St. Margaret's,
Pennington Green, at this time, whilst the Church of St. Elizabeth, Aspull, was in building.
He subsequently became Vicar of that Church which was consecrated three months after
St. Andrew’s. During the 1939-45 war the son of Mr. Walmesley sent food parcels to our
present vicar (Rev. E. O. Beard) from his home in Australia.

In March, 1882, the work of building continued. It was decided to proceed with work
on the vestries and to put benches in the church instead of chairs. Many donations are recorded
in the Magazine from £10 down to 10/- (from a mill girl). In May, Marsh Green (over 700
inhabitants) was separated from St. Andrew’s Parish and given back to Pemberton, with the
mention of the possibility of a new Parish being formed there.

On Tuesday, 1st August, 1882, the new Church of St. Andrew was consecrated by the
Lord Bishop of Liverpool (Dr. Ryle). The service at 3 p.m. was attended by many clergy from
the Deanery as well as a large congregation. After the petition to consecrate had been read,
the Bishop and Clergy processed round the Church reciting antiphonally the 24th Psalm. After
prayers, led by the Bishop, the Sentence of Consecration was read by his Secretary.

It will be realised that because the ornaments and furniture of the Church have been
acquired by donations, the building originally would have been considerably more bare than it
is today. There was none of the beauty of the rich oak work. The first chancel screen was
made of wood and painted in light colours, the Pulpit forming part of the screen being placed
similarly to the present one. The altar was oak, painted and gilded—as mentioned before—
by the Rev. A. A. K. Legge. The Reredos was of wood painted in tints of white and gold.
The present painting of ‘ The Crucifixion ’’ on the Reredos was also on the original one and
so were the two side paintings, although they had been added later. The font with its oak
cover dates from the time of Consecration, so do the present open benches of pitch-pine and
the Bell. At the Consecration Service printed statements were placed on the seats showing
that the total costs amounted to £4,500. Outside, the parish wore a holiday appearance,
bunting being displayed freely from many of the houses. A band of men volunteers had
laboured for weeks in their spare time to put the Churchyard in order.

The first Harvest Festival in the new church was an occasion long to be remembered.
At Evensong every seat was filled, a large string band, numbering about 20, accompanied
the Hymns and, after the service, played a recital of music by Handel and Mozart.

The Church narrowly escaped disaster six months after its Consecration, for during the
great gale on 26th January, 1883, ‘“ the west windows of the church met the full force of the
wind and were all but blown in. The stone mullions were bending like laths when the danger
was first discovered and there was not a minute to be lost.”” However, one of the men of the
parish came to the rescue and made the windows secure. The damage cost £7 to repair and
the Vicar had to use the Harvest Festival thankofferings for this instead of giving them tao
the church expenses fund.
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In June of 1927 Mrs. Dwelly, the wife of the first Dean of Liverpool, came to speak to
a large gathering of Mothers in the Church House. On the 22nd of that month at a special
service, eighty mothers were admitted to the Mothers’ Union, and received their cards at the
altar rail, fifteen more were admitted the following month. On the actual day of these ﬁrst
admissions a special service was being held in Westminster Abbey to celebrate the Jubilee
(50th anniversary) of the Mothers’ Union. The following year the M.U. paid a visit to London.
They were taken round the House of Commons and the Mary Sumner House ; they also visited
Westminster Abbey. The Mothers” Union at St. Andrew’s remains, as always, a very active
branch. In addition to their monthly meetings they join annually with the other branches of
M.U. in the Deanery to commemorate the Feast of the Annunciation or * Lady Day”
(March 25th). In 1951 they acquired a banner. This makes a valuable addition to their repre-
sentation in the Walking day and eve of St. Andrew processions. Nowadays the Mothers’
Union has a planned syllabus of meetings. There are quite different from their first meetings,
which consisted of weekly knitting sessions in the Vestry.

In 1927, the date of the formation of the above organizations, all the parochial meetings
seem to have been very much alive. The Boys’ Club held billiards matches, bowling handicaps,
football matches and summer picnic outings ; the Scout troop and Guide company were
establishing themselves.

The Girls’ Friendly Society held its first admission service in the Chapel on 19th February,
1926. Twenty girls were admitted. Weekly meetings were held ; amongst other activities
they presented two plays and took part in a big Rally in the town during their first year.
In 1929 they attended the Annual London Rally, Display and Prizegiving in the Albert Hall
In 1931 they entered the Diocesan Competitions in both sections. These sections were singing
and dancing, for which they were trained by Miss Churchill (the dancing instructress), and
Mr. H. Pilling the organist and choirmaster of the Church. In July of the same year, they went
to London and won a dancing competition open to Branches throughout England. The
Vicar’s sister, Miss Buckmaster, was in charge of the G.F.S. at this time and under her it
prospered. In one year they were able to give £130 to the S.P.G., and purchase their own
Banner made by the Liverpool School of Embroidery. Miss Benfold eventually became leader
and continued the good work until the war years. Then it was disbanded. Although there

is no longer a branch in the parish, in its day the G.F.S. seems to have been one of the most
lively organizations of the Church.

The Church Lads’ Brigade was revived in 1932. During the war it had been a purely
military body, uniforms were khaki and rifles were used for drilling purposes. Now it was
re-formed as an organization of Church Lads, to train them by fellowship and discipline in the
Christian way of life. In September, 1936, the C.L.B. was placed under the command of Mr.
J. H. Houghton. It began to grow in strength, and by 1937 was the largest company in the
area with an outstanding Bugle Band. In 1935 it was the only company with second grade
marching in the north of England. A Training Corps was formed in 1937 and became an
immediate success. The company attended the annual Battalion camp and on many occasions
took all the sports prizes. By the outbreak of the war in 1939 the strength of our C.L.B. was
one hundred and two. One lad was lost during the war (Sgt. W. Woodcock), and a Roll of
Honour, placed in the Children’s Corner, commemorates members who served their country.
A re-union was held after the war and the Company re-formed. Captain J. H. Houghton
retained command until 1954 when he was appointed Battalion Adjutant. Captain F. Sheldon
then took over the command and has maintained the tradition ever since. The C.L.B. colour
was presented in 1945 by Mr. F. King in memory of his mother Ann King. It was dedicated
by the Vicar (Rev. G. Hansford) at a service attended by all the Battalion. In 1953 the
Honorary Members' Guild of the C.L.B. was formed, its main objects being to help raise funds
and generally assist the company in its cfforts. It has proved a valuable asset. Apart from
arranging Christmas parties, trips to shows, and parents’ evenings, this Guild presented a
memorial donation to the widow of the late Mr. W. Jackson. In July, 1958, two members of
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By now the Mission at Beech Hill was well on its feet. During Mr. Marsh’s ministry there,
the spiritual life and parochial organizations were built up. A special page of the parish
magazine was devoted to the activities of St. Anne’s. In his letter of August, 1937, Mr. Marsh
said that that end of the parish had a population of almost scven thousand people, and it
was high time more thought was given to building a Church, and thereby formlng’a parish.
A Building Fund had been started and people were asked to enrol as ““ St. Anne’s Church
Builders.”” The enrolment fees to the difierent sections were: Masons 10/-, Carpenters 7/6,
Bricksetters 5/-, Decorators 2/6, Plumbers 1/6, Electricians 1/-, Labourers 9d, Apprcnt}ces
6d. Many families enrolled and a number of Sunday School children became apprentices.
During the following years the organizations grew from strength to strength. A branch of
the C.E.M.S. was formed ; there was a Mothers’ Fellowship, a branch of the C.L.B., a Dramatic
Society (presenting plays at both St. Anne’s and St. Andrew's), a Bible Class, and others.
St. Anne’s had their own Walking Day and Field Treat. The latter, which included the crowning
of the Rose Queen, was held on Springfield Park. A Bazaar and a two-day Sale were also held
on different occasions. Mr. Alsop allowed St. Anne’s to stand on its own feet by encouraging
self-support, and granting many concessions for its spiritual and material good. On the 16th
April, 1940, the Bishop of Liverpool licensed the Reverend E. A. Marsh as Curate-in-Charge
of the Conventional District of St. Anne, in the Parish of St. Andrew, Wigan. A Conventional
District is not a separate Parish, but a district within a Parish, ministered to by a Curate-in-
Charge appointed by the Bishop and responsible to him. Previous to this, St. Anne’s had held
its first vestry meeting and appointed its first Churchwardens. Later in the same year (1940)
the Rev. J. Lawton was licensed to be in charge of St. Anne’s district, in succession to the
Rev. E. A. Marsh. The latter now continues his pastoral work in the benefice of St. James’
Sheldwich with St. Leonard’s Badlesmere in the diocese of Canterbury. He was instituted
there in 1956.

At St. Andrew’s life progressed quite happily. In the nineteen thirties further additions
were made to the Church mainly by presentation, including : the mosaic on the north aisle
wall representing the Resurrection ; the standard Candlesticks ; a small Crucifix ; a chalice
and paten; the Day and Sunday School small banners; the panelling at the west and
beneath the belfry and either side of that behind the font ; the oak woodcut placed on the
north west pillar ; the Reredos in the Chapel ; the tile floor in the porch and the organ blower.
The parish organizations continued to flourish, in particular the C.L.B. and the G.F.S.;
the latter now being under the leadership of Miss Benfold.

In 1939 St. Andrew’s had its second “ old boy " made Deacon and twelve months later
ordained Priest, in Southwell Minster. The Reverend H. L. Hobson was trained at St. Aidan’s
Theological College, Birkenhead. He began his career as an evangelist in the Church Army
being commissioned as a Captain in 1931. Since 1959 he has been the Vicar of St. John the
Evangelist, Mansfield, Notts.

Early in 1941 Mr. Alsop voluntecred for service as a Chaplain in the Royal Navy. The
people of St. Andrew’s were very sorry to see him go because they felt at that time, more
than ever, the need of pastoral care and comfort. Up to the time of leaving, he arranged visits
to the home of every boy in the parish who had been called up for military training.

It was at this time that the Vicarage underwent a slight modification in its domestic
arrangements. The parish being without its incumbent, it was agreed that the house should
be let as flats for the time being. Tenants were soon forthcoming ; eventually, when the
Rev. R. R. Honner was priest in charge, one of the flats became the dwelling place for him
and his family.

Much good work had been done by the Rev. F. J. Alsop during a very difficult period in
our national life. He was able to draw upon his experiences in the Australian Bush to help him
in mixing so genuinely with people in Wigan. After his service in the Navy he became vicar
of St. Andrew’s, Southport, and subsequently in Liverpool. After a further spell in Peter-
borough diocese, he is now working in the Lake District.
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Bishop of the Diocese consecrated the new Church of St. Anne, Beech Hill, thlS' wa.rsl o
crowning day for those who had worked so hard and. long. ‘Ihe people of §t. Andret\;/ S ;) te 1‘ee
their congratulations on this great achievement, with their warmest _\v1shes Ior11 he dubu .
They also accepted an invitation to a service in the new Church which was fo owe | 13 g
joint Social a few days after the Consecration. Mr. Lawton co:}tmued his ministry unt]c b)
when he was preferred to the living of St. Luke’s, Southport (in succession to the lz}'te an'O}l
J. M. Buckmaster). Subsequently Mr. Lawton has been made vicar of t_he vast 11}dust11a1 pa.rls}f
of St. Chad’s, Kirkby, near Liverpool. He is outstanding as an organizer, making the most o.
materials human and otherwise, at his disposal. It cannot be doubted that he set the pace for
the building of St. Anne's, Beech Hill—and that fine church stands as a permanent tribute to
his abilities. He was also a keen worker amongst young people, and played a prominent part
in the local Scout Movement whilst in Wigan. His successor at St. Anne’s was the Rev. D. F.
Thompson. During his incumbency (which finished in February of this year when he moved
to St. Aidan’s, Leeds) the Vicarage was completed, and an effective Stewardship campaign
was undertaken which has put the parish finances on a sound footing. A man of spiritual
insight, Mr. Thompson maintained the high traditions associated with St. Anne's. As this book
is being compiled, Beech Hill is on the threshold of a new chapter in its history, and we wish
well to the Rev. Frank Cartwright (a former curate) on his institution in june. May it continue
from strength to strength ! The art of true motherhood is to nurture the child until it is fully
fledged, and then to continue to aid it by prayers and interest. So we at St. Andrew’s unobstru-
sively should continue our prayers for, and interest in, our belpved daughter, St. Anne.

On November 6th and 8th (Thursday and Saturday) 1952, St. Andrew’s held an
Elizabethan Bazaar in the Schools, Mort Street ; this particular theme was suggested because
it was Coronation Year. Scenery and settings were designed and made by a special Designing
Committee, consisting of Messrs. T. Hudson, R. Lester and R. Taylor. The stalls on one side
of the school were designed and the scenery painted in early Elizabethan style, the model
used being Speke Hall, Liverpool. The stalls on the opposite side were designed and painted
to represent modern shop facade. Thus the effect was that of an Elizabethan street—Ancient
and Modern—16th century and 20th century. The stalls consisted of : Sunday School, Groceries ;
P.T.A., Games, Toys, etc.; M.U., Household Drapery; W.F., Groceries; Brownies, Mis-
cellaneous ; Congregation, Toys, etc.; C.E.M.S., Hardware; A.Y.P.A., Soda Fountain ;
Young Wives’, Fancy Goods; Choir, *“ White Elephant "' ; Guides, Handerkchiefs ; C.L.B,
Sideshows. Teas and suppers were served in the Infants’ School. The opener on Thursday was
Mrs. E. L. Noble, J.P., with Canon J. M. Buckmaster, M.A., in the chair. On Saturday the
Mayoress (Mrs. T. R. Lythgoe) opened the Bazaar, the Chairman being Councillor A. J. Lowe,
J.P. The Mayoress crowned the Tudor Rose (Miss Shirley Heaton). The Bazaar realised £930.
The previous big Bazaar had been the *' Railway Cruise " held in 1936 and open for three
afterncons and evenings. The entire decorations had been provided and arranged by the
Railway Company. The Elizabethan Bazaar of 1952 was the most outstanding event of this
kind since. Mr. Warren was most impressed, and said so in no uncertain terms in the following
month’s Magazine * - what a gathering of the clans ! What renewing of old friend-
ships and starting new ones ! What activity and genuine hard work on the part of so many !
What hot-pot ! In fact, what a Bazaar ! It was enjoyed by all who took part in it and so far
as I know there were no squabbles and no hurt feelings. Quite an achiecvement, that! "

The Rev. J. M. Buckmaster had been responsible for the introduction of the Family or
Parish Communion. Since that time each successive incumbent has added to the Ceremonial
and Ritual of the service in accordance with the traditions of the English Church. Ceremonies
are the actions which show by outward and visible signs the meaning which the worship
conveys. Rites (or Ritual) are the customary form of words used in services of the Church
(i.e., two people meet, they say “ How do you do ? " It is the customary *rite ’ of greeting.
They shake hands. This is the recognised ceremonial which symbolises their mutual salutation.
So when we meet God in His Church we greet Him with both rite and ceremony). When the
Parish Communion was started (in 1918) Servers were introduced almost immediately. Until
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architecture is the pointed arch, the shape of which coincides with the top of the windows.
The east and west windows of St. Andrew’s are similar to the tall slender windows of the

early English churches known as Lancet windows, although they are not as narrow as the
genuine Medieval examples.

From east to west the church is in three sections ; the Sanctuary, the Chancel and the
Nave. The nave is the body of the church occupied by the congregation {Latin ‘‘ Navis,”
a * Ship ”). The word is a reminder that Christ’s Church is the ark in which we are borne to
heaven. The baptismal service speaks of being “ received into the ark of Christ’s Church.”
The chancel is the middle of the three sections, being that part of the church occupied by
the choir. The sanctuary is the section at the east of the church beyond the communion rails,
and occupied by the high altar. This is the most sacred part of the church (Latin “ sanctus,”
“holy "), Lay people are not normally expected to enter the sanctuary unless their office
entitles them to do so (i.e., servers are “ servants of the sanctuary ).

At the entrance to the chancel is placed a wooden screen (Latin “ cancelli,” ** grating or
trellis work "), Mentioned in the architect's specification is a double-principal in the roof
over the chancel screen. This is in fact the double beam to be seen on the roof, between which
is a wooden canopy, with a stone buttress on either side. On the top of many chancel screens
is placed the Holy Rood—an image of Christ on the cross with Mary his mother on His right
and St. John the beloved disciple on His left. (See centre panel of reredos).

The double-principal on the roof is placed so as to indicate the sanctity of the Holy Rood
below. It is known as the “ Rood-Celure.” The rood celure was probably included by the
architect at St. Andrew's in case it was decided to have the figures comprising the Holy Rood ;
in any case it symbolises a dominating feature of the Medieval church. In the middle ages
the nave of the church belonged to the pcople, and they used it much as we use a church hall
or social club, God was hanging on his cross above the chancel-arch and all sport and pleasure
were “ under God.”

The nave of the church is often interpreted to symbeolise the church  militant ”* (fighting
on earth against sin), the chancel being raised [rom the nave symbolising the church
“ expectant ' (awaiting the day of judgment), and the sanctuary the church * triumphant ”
{in heaven).

The roof in St. Andrew's church is supported by king-post trusses. The king-post is the
vertical post resting on the principal beam and supporting the rafters.

From the foregoing remarks it will be realised that St. Andrew's church has been designed
and built in accordance with the tradition of Early English architecture. If it cannot claim
to be old, it can at least claim—Dby virtue of its design—to have a strong link with the Medieval
church. It will be noticed, as we walk round the church, how the various additions to the
furniture and ornamentation have been chosen tastefully by each successive vicar. Nothing
less than the best quality of materials and craftsmanship has been uscd.

Before leaving the subject of dimensions it js interesting to note that the Lady Chapel
of Liverpool Cathedral is the same size as St. Andrew’s Church, excluding the side aisles,
chapel and vestries. The length from east to west, the height and width of the nave coincide
with the measurements of the cathedral chapel. The gable end of the latter fits dimensionally
into the east window of the cathedral, thus the gable end of St. Andrew’s would also fit into
the cathedral east window. This is worth remembering when visiting Liverpool Cathedral,

Tue FoNT AND THE \WEST ExD

It is appropriate that our walk round the church should begin at the Font, for it is at the
Font that the Christian enters Christ's army (““ To fight manfully under Christ's banner ™).
The word Font comes from the Latin *“ fons '—* a spring or source,” and is so called because
the water of Baptism is the way of initiation into Christ’s Church. The font is normally made
from some kind of stone ; possibly in reference to the water, symbolising Holy Baptism, which
flowed supernaturally, from the rock in the wilderness (Exod. 17 : verse 6).
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of our present Verger Mr. William Colwell who reaches his 25th year in the office at the time
of the publication of this booklet (1962). Mr. Colwelil has been a member of St. Andrew's Parish
all his life and took over the appointment as Verger {rom the late Richard Pilkington in 1937.
He is an authority on matters of historical interest concerning St. Andrew’s Church and
parish. It is remarkable that in a history of eighty years this church has only had four Vergers,
proving the loyal service which has been given in this office. The title Verger originates from
the word ' Verge " (or Mace) ; this is a wand ornamented with a cross often carried at the
head of a procession when leading the choir in and out, or escorting the preacher to or from
the pulpit. This practice is still continued in Cathedrals and some Parish Churches. One of the
duties of the Verger is to ring the bell before service (excepting in those churches which have
a peal of belis). Church bells have the special function of calling the faithful to worship. The
bell at St. Andrew’s is the oldest piece of property in the church. It was cast at Haigh Foundry
in 1835 and was presented to the church by Wigan Coal and [ron Co. The bell weighs one
hundredweight, At the time it was given (when the church was consecrated in 1882) the
Vicar remarked that it would do very nicely until the parishioners were in a position to get
a new one. The same bell is still in use, occasional repairs having been made to the rope and
axle ! The bell was last silent in 1954 when a new frame had to be fixed, the old one being
almost worn through. Besides being rung before services, the bell at St. Andrew’s js alzso rung
during the sung Eucharist or Parish Communion at the time of the consecration of the bread
and wine. This is to remind the sick, others unable to come to church, and passers-by, that
the most sacred moment of the service has been reached.

Before leaving the west end of the church, mention ought to he made of the carved oak
collection plates usually to be found on the Font steps. These seven plates were presented in
1920 by the following : Mrs. Scott-Barrett, Miss Benwick, Mrs. Burton, 3r. and Mrs. J. Lowe,
The five Lowe Boys, Mr. and Mrs. R. Pennington, and the Cheir. Carved in Church Text
round each plate are the words ** God loveth a cheerful giver.”

THE NAVE

On the main north-west pillar of the church (facing as we enter the back pews at the
north-west of the nave) can be seen, enclosed in a frame, an oak woodcut resembling the
shape of a decorated cross. This fine piece of craltsinanship was presented in memory of Mrs.
Lizzie Garner who died on 2nd December, 1936, aged 50 years. It was given by the family,
although the carving and fretwork was done by Mr. Garner. The centre-piece of this woodcut
is an adaptation of the famous painting entitled “ Ecce Homo *" (Latin for ** Behold the man ™)
by the 17th century artist Guido Reni. It shows the head of our Lord in his agony on the
cross. The topmost section headed “ Nativitus ” shows the Nativity or Birth of Christ. The
pane! on the leit of the “ Ecce Homo " is entitled *“ Baptisma " and shows our Lord being
baptized by John the Baptist, whilst on the right the one entitled ** Galix Amarus’ shows
the agony of Jesus in the Garden of Gethsemane. Below is shown “ Crucifixus,” our Lord
on the cross with Mary his mother kneeling and the soldier throsting the spear. At the foot
of the woodcut the panel entitled "' Resurrectionem * depicts our Lord bursting from his prison
on Easter morn. A report of the above mentioned woodcut was given in the * Church Times ”
shortly after it was presented. The report describes it as *“ an example of the revival of the
spirit of Medieval craftsmanship.”

The oak table round the corner from this woodcut (by the north-west pillar) was given
in 1929 by the Boys’ Club. The picture of the Crucifixion on the south-west pillar (immediately
opposite the woodcut) is an original oil painting. Little is known about this painting apart
from the fact that it was brought from the Vicarage by a former Vicar (the Rev. [. M.
Buckmaster) and placed behind and above the chapel altar belore the reredos was presented.
The picture has darkened slightly over the years buf still looks well. Its frame is a good piece
of work. Another picture hanging at the west end of the south aisle, is a print of a painiing
entitled ** Master, is it I.” It shows that familiar part of the Last Supper where our Lord
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projecting arms at the top for leaning, also the “ elbows " on which the arms rest when ihe
individual is seated. The hinged-seats (somewhat like the tip-up seats in theatres) cnable the
priest to stand, or sit on the edge of the seat when it is tipped-up, These heavy tip-up scats are
known as * misericords,” from the Latin “ misericordia ”* (pity) indicating that they arose out
of merciful consideration for physical infirmity. In medieval churches quaint figures or hunting
and farm scenes were often carved underneath these seats. There are carvings under the two
misericords in St. Andrew’s Church. The one under the Vicar's seat is a copy of an old one in
Wells Cathedral, and portrays 2 man fighting a dragon, which he bas blinded and down whose
throat he is thrusting a spear. This signifies the ultimate victory of goodness over evil. On
the misere of the opposite stall are the crowned and united heads of a king and a bishop with
sceptre and pastoral staff, by which the carver signifies the ancient union of Church and State,

The ends of the Choirmen’s book-desks are surmounted by “ poppy heads.” These are the
tall, richly carved ends which project above the desks on all four ends. The name “ poppy "
is derived from ““ puppis,” the figure-head of a ship. On the bench-end below each poppy-head
will be seen a shield. On the shicld at the south-west end (by the Vicar’s stall) is carved St.
Andrew’s Cross. On the south east end of the same bench is carved on the shield the coat
of arms of Liverpool diocese, consisting of the Liver bird holding a copy of the Bible ; a sailing-
ship—signifying a port ; and an open book on which the words ** Thy word is truth ” are
inscribed. The latter was added to the Liverpool coat of arms by the first Bishop., Across
the chancel on the north-east bench-end below the poppy-head is carved—again on the
shield—the coat of arms of the Chester diocese, consisting of three Mitres (the headpiece worn
by a bishop is kriown as a mitre). On the west end of this north choir-desk is carved on the
shield the coat of arms of Lichficld diocese, which consists of a Greek cross supplemented with
lobes or serifs.

The dioceses of Lichfield, Chester, and, of course, Liverpocl have strong connections
with Wigan, and that is probably why their respective coats of arms are carved here. Wigan
was originally included in the diocese of York. Towards the beginning of the 10th century
the land between the Ribble and the Mersey, including Wigan, was added to the diocese of
Lichfield. It remained in this diocese throughout the middle ages until 1541, when it was
transferred to the diocese of Chester. Since 1880 Wigan has belonged to the diocese of Liver-
pool which was at that time taken out of Chester.

The book-desk ends are also richly decorated with tracery, and there are some beautifully
carved grotesques on the arms of the scats occupied by the boys. They include various heraldic
beasts ‘ couchant ’ on the arm—the griffin, lion, dragon, eagle and amphibious mythological
beasts. One can spend much time investigating the fine carving seen here, for it all adds
distinet beauty to the chancel. The backs of the boys' seats (eight panels on each side), the
fronts of the desks, and the ends and corners show the skill of master design and craltsman-
ship. On the corners of the choirboys’ desks will be seen carvings of four musical figures. At
the south east end King David is shown playing his harp. He was the skilful player upon the
harp brought to soothe King Saul with his music (1 Samuel 16: verses 14-23). Opposite, at
the north-east desk end, an angel is shown playing a lute. The lute is a stringed instrument
similar to the mandolin or guitar. It is often mentioned in the Old Testament, especially in the
Psalms of David. At the west-cnd of the north desk is a carving of St. Gregory the Great.
He was consecrated Bishop of Rome about a.n. 580 but vigorously opposed the title of
‘ Universal Bishop ' as blasphemous and anti-christian. We English owe him a great debt as
the sender of St. Augustine, the first Archbishop of Canterbury, who, it will be rcmembered,
is shown carved on the chancel screen. Gregory was the deviser of what are called Gregorian
tones, the early plainsong or music of the Church. It is said that he ucsed to teach the boys
himself even when confined to bed by weakness. So he has a double right to a place on our
choir stalls. The carver has given him a very graceful and dignified figure with pastoral staff
in one hand and a music roll with Gregorian notation in the other. There are also books at
the foot of his music desk. Gregory wears a Cope and simple bishop's mitre instead of the
tiara of the Popes.
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The pipework of the organ is basically the same. Organ pipes become better with age
(like wine they mature !) and some of the pipes contain 75 per cent pure tin. There are over
1,000 pipes in the organ. Some extra stops (or sets of pipes) were added in 1960 to give more
orchestral colour to the tone of the instrument. Amongst the new stops included are a delicate
string toned stop known as ““ Acoline,” an “‘ Oboe,” a very powerful Trumpet and a
‘“ Harmonic Flute.”

The rebuild of the organ was completed in 1961, the firm contracted to carry out the
job being Messrs. John H. Cowin and Co., Organ Builders, of Liverpool. The organ is in
excellent condition. Before the electric blower was preserllte'd in 1940, the organ was
blown by hand (it was blown by the movement of a lever similar to the one seen on the
carving at the end of the choirboys’ desk on the south side). The blowing was done in the loft
and many initials are carved on the wooden pipes there. Our Verger tells stories of his hurrying
out into the street before a Funeral, in order to find a man to blow the organ—for the fee
of one shilling. So men have probably blown St. Andrew’s organ who had never been inside
the church before or since!

The electric blower, it will be realised, was a welcome addition when it arrived in 1940.
It was placed to the memory of Hilda Sarah and Mabel Elizabeth Barker by their brothers,
Arthur, Cyril and Sydney. The inscription is on the front of the organ case on the south side
of the Chancel.

THE SANCTUARY

We now proceed to the section at the extreme east end of the church known as the
Sanctuary. This is the most sacred part of the church, because within is placed the
most important “ ornament " or fitting of the church—the altar. The altar is God’s Holy Table
at which is celebrated the Lord’s own service wherein the Christian is linked to the one Perfect
Sacrifice offered by Christ on the Cross. The altar is elevated by three steps to give it dignity.
These three steps are often interpreted as being representative of the Theological Virtues—
Faith, Hope and Charity.

The High Altar is made entirely of oak ; it is a fine piece of work and in keeping with the
whole east end of the church. Compared with the age of the other furniture in the chancel
and sanctuary, this altar is a fairly recent addition. It was bought from congregational
subscriptions to commemorate the jubilee of the consecration of the church (1882-1932; 50
years). It was consecrated by Bishop Gresford Jones of Warrington and used for the first
time on Easter Day, 1933. In the centre panel of the altar is a painting of the “ Agnus Dei "
(Lamb of God), similar to the small one on the processional cross. The painting of the book
on the picture in front of the Lamb represents the book of the Revelation of St. John the
Divine. The cross adorned flag is a symbol of the Resurrection. The cornice of the altar
(beneath the linen cover) is beautifully carved with a design of interlaced conventional foliage
work. Set into the centre of the oak top of the altar is a stone marked with five Consecration
Crosses representing the five wounds of Christ. Altar cloths together with those for the
Credence tables (both Chapel and High altars) are embroidered linen, often made and pre-
sented by parishioners. Much skill and patience is required in carrying out this work. The
following gifts of cloths are recorded : Mrs. Makinson, 1938 ; Miss Glover, 1939 ; Mrs. C.
Barker, 1940 ; Mrs. H. Emery, 1956 ; Anon., 1957 ; Mrs. Bragg, 1958 ; Mr. and Mrs. South-
worth (in memory of their son), 1958. Two embroidered cloths for the offertory table at the
Parish Communion were worked and given by Mrs. Brown and her daughter-in-law, Mrs. N.
Brown ; also by Miss Glover and Miss Taylor.

The Reredos is the large panel of carvings and paintings behind the altar. It will
be noticed that it is divided into three basic sections each containing a large painting and
decorated by carving. This type of design resembles the Triptych—a Reredos popular on the
Continent where the side wings can be folded in over the centre. Many things in churches
are divided into three (i.e., three sections to the east window, three seats comprising the
Sedilia, the Church itself in three sections)—this is often interpreted by authorities as repre-
senting the Holy Trinity.

52



The painting on the left shows Our Lord calling St. Andrew to his service from his former
occupation as fisherman—* Follow me, and I will make you fishers of men " (St. Matthew 1 :
verse 19). The doves in thg upper part of the picturc represent the presence of the Holy Ghost,
they also symbolise humility, The painting on the extreme right depicts the Martyrdom
St. Andrew is shown tied to his X-shaped cross, his persecutors wishing to prolong his
suffering rather than to allow him a quick death. The painting in the centre shows the
crucifixion of our Lord, with Mary his mother, and St. John standing beside the cross.
These paintings were in the original reredos (prior to this oak one) and had faded considerably.
In July, 1961, they were re-painted and restored in artists’ oil colour and 22 carat
English gold leaf by Mr. Roy Taylor, the present organist and choirmaster of the church.
Much care has been taken to preserve the arfist's original colours and design. Other paintings
in the church, including these over the Sedilia and in front of the pulpit, are to be similarly
restored in the future.

The ledge beneath these paintings is called the Gradine. In the centre of it is placed
a brass cross. This particular cross, together with an oak prayer desk in the chapel, forms a
link with the original church-school of St. Andrew at Martland Mill. These are amongst the
few remaining ornaments which were used before the church was built and are still in use.

The two brass flower vases were given in memory of J. T. Heath, who died in 1922.
Underneath the painting on the left will be noticed the word *“ Ebenezer ”' and the dates 1382-
1908. Ebenezer is a place name which comes in the first book of Samuel (see I Samuel 7 : verse
12), and means ' the stone of help.” Samuel set up the stone, saying *“ Hitherto hath the Lord
helped us.” So, in similar vein, St. Andrew’s congregation, led by their Vicar, decided to set
up their *“ Ebenezer "’ to commemorate the 25th Anniversary of the Consecration of the
Church in 1807. The Vicar of that time said, “ No congregation is more bound than we to
?let upf our F:benezer, first and foremost to remember with heartfelt gratitude what God hath

one for us.”

Below the gradine is a series of square cusped panels in which are shields bearing
emblems of our Lord’s passion. These were re-gilded and repainted at the same time as the
pictures. From left to right they are: the bag containing the thirty pieces of silver ; swords
and staves; pillar and scourging cords; crown of thorns; three nails; garment and three
dice ; spear, reed and sponge; and the hammer, pincers and ladder depicting the descent
from the cross. The centre shield shows a lamb (symbol of sacrifice) bearing a cross-adorned
banner (trinmphant symbol of the Resurrection) linking up with the text on the Reredos “ in
the midst of the throne stood a lamb as it had been slain.”” Beneath the painting of the
Crucifixion the words “ Sanctus-Sanctus-Sanctus '’ are carved and gilded (being Latin for
‘“ Holy, Holy, Holy ') so are the words ** Alleluia, amen *’ on the right, and the words ** worthy
is the lamb ’ at the extreme bottom of the Reredos. At the extreme top, attached to the
canopy, are three shields bearing the emblem: of the Holy Name.

The Reredos is carved in best wainscot oak. The four main uprights have canopied niches
carved, like those at Huyton, out of the solid and containing figures of four adoring angels,
two of them bearing incense thuribles. (Incense is used in some churches as a symbol of prayer
uniting the Church on carth with the Church Triumphant in heaven). On the outer uprights
are carved SS. Peter and Paul (either side of the altar) representing the Apostolic Church ;
Bishop William of Wickham, representing the Pre-Reformation, and Bishop Andrewes, the
Post-Reformation Church; $S. Edmund and Ealswith (wifc of Alfred the Great) representing
the Anglo-Saxon Church, and also Kings and Queens as nursing fathers and mothers of the
Church. Most of these figures are copied from the Winchester Cathedral Altar Screen. All the
lettering is Old English and is gilded. The leading horizontal lines of the Rercdos, together
with the Pastoral Staves of the Bishops and the insignia of the other saints, are gilded. There
is much beautifully carved convential foliage work and Gothic style tracery. A sequence of
wood-carving, between the shields and the paintings, is of the vine and branches, the vital
link between God and man (I am the vine and ye are the branches . . . .").
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Reredos was made by Mr. E. S. Willgoose {(mentioned in connection with his memorial).
it was presented in memory of Alfred Sydney Willgoose who died on August 28th, 1937, aged
16 years. The Reredos is made from solid oak. It is in the form of a large cross and is parti-
cularly fine and impressive whether seen from the aisle, chancel or within the chapel itself.
The shape of the cross is bevelled round the edge, leaving the cross recessed with the surround
standing in relief. This is heightened by lining in gotd leal. The inscription at the base is also
carved and gilded. It makes a worthy addition to the Chapel.

In addition to the two oak screcns separating the Chancel and sanctuary from the chapel
(described previously) new chairs were added during the period 1950-51. These were presented
by members and ex-members of the Parish in memory of departed friends and relatives.
The Rev. D. J. M. Edwards, the Vicar at that time, started the scheme for the purchase of
these chairs. A brass plate will be scen on the top of each chair recording the name of the
person in whose memory it was given,

In 1954 the Aumbry was provided by anonymous donations from parishioners. The
Aumbry is a small safe with a strong door set into the North wall of the Chapel sanctuary.
It is used for the perpetual Reservation of the Holy Sacrament of Christ’s Body and Blood
so that Holy Communion may be available for sick persons at any time. At the service of
Holy Communion a certain portion of the Blessed Sacrament is reserved in a Pyx, which is
kept in the Aumbry and taken to the sick people. The pyx at St. Andrew's was presented
in 1954 by Mrs. ‘W. Ashurst in memory of her mother Catherine Orgill, who was a regular
worshipper at St. Andrew's. She passed to her rest on st December, 1952. The Pyx consists
of a glass phial in which is contained the consecrated wine; this fits inside a solid silver
casing, on top of which is a circular silver box, with lid, to hold the consecrated bread. The
outer casing is ornamented with a Vine in relief and bears an inscription. When the Reserved
Sacrament is within the Aumbry a curtain is kept drawn across. The custom of reserving
the Sacrament for the sick is of great antiquity, it is mentioned by Justin who was martyred
in the year A.p. 168.

A white lamp burns before the altar day and night as a reminder of the Presence of Christ
in the Reserved Sacrament. This Sanctuary Lamp was presented in memory of Deborah
Pilkington who died on 5th October, 1951, aged 71 years ; it was given by her children. She
was the widow of Richard Pilkington the former Verger in whose memory the oak panelling
beneath the belfry was presented. Just under two yecars belore the Lamp was presented,
Gertrude Pilkington, daughter of the above, married the Rev. D. J. Al. Edwards. The sanctuary
lamp is a beautiful addition to the chapel; it was dedicated together with the aumbry on
Walking Day, 1954, by the late Canon J. M. Buckmaster.

It will be remembered that the latter was responsible for starting the fund for the
memorial chapel, and it is most appropriate that the latest gift to thc Chapcl {urniture should
be to his memory. The Buckmaster Memorial Screen now forms the entrance from the north
aisle. It was dedicated at the 75th Anniversary service of the Church on September 18th, 1957,
by the Bishop of Liverpool. Contributions were received from both parishioners and also
many past members of St. Andrew’s, At the service of dedication many of the ex-parishioners
were able to be present, thus making a big re-unicn of present and past members of the
church. The screen, a worthy memorial indeed to a much-loved priest, was designed by
Mr. H. M. D. Wood, architect of Messrs. Edmund Kirby and Sons. It was carved by Messrs.
Advent Hunstone and is inscribed : " In memory of John Meredith Buckmaster, Vicar of this
Church 1917-34." Tt is dignified and harmonises well with its surrcundings. [t very soon
became so much a part of the Church that people found it difficult to remember what the
entrance to the Chapel had been like previously.

The Prayer desk used for the Daily Services has a brass plate, on which is the inscription
“ Presented to St. Andrew’s School for use in the services by the Congregation and schaolars
as a slight token of their esteem for their Vicar the Rev. A. A. K. Legge, June 21, A.p. [874.7
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Purple for Advent and Lent—the penitential seasons ; Green is used for all days that are
not fasts or feasts; it is used during Epiphanytide and the long scason of Trinity. The
Chasuble represents the seamless robe of Christ. The Maniple is worn upon the left wrist by the
priest. This and the Chasuble are removed when preaching at the Communion Service. The
Stole is the symbol of the priest in office, it is worn round the neck when sacraments are
performed. The cope is semi-circular and fastened in front with a clasp. The one at St.
Andrew’s is very richly decorated in Red, White and Gold. It is used on Festal occasions
and for processions. The Choir wear Cassocks and Surplices. The Cassock is black and tight
fitting, it is the foundation on which other vestments are placed. The Surplice is the ample,
flowing white garment of linen. The boys also wear neck-ruffs, and medals indicating affiliation
to the Royal School of Church Music.

The Vestments and Robes remind us of the dignity and beauty which surrounds the
Throne of God; they are also the sign of those who serve in holy things. They date back
to the earliest days of Christianity, linking us with the beginnings of the Church of Christ,
before there was division. Originally they were the ordinary clothes worn, thus the link pro-
vides distinctive unity.

Just as Vestments symbolise the continuity of the Church throughout the ages, so
banners symbolise the progress and future triumph of the Church. When used within the
church building in procession, they kindle the devotion of the people, and when used in
outdoor procession they become a visible sign that the Church is alive and active, inspiring,
it is hoped, people not already belonging to the church, by the act of visible witness. Banners
are used on two occasions in the year at St. Andrew’s. The annual outdoor procession which
usually takes place during Junc—known as *“ Walking Day "’-—sees the usc of all the banners.
On the Eve of St. Andrew (November 29th) each year, a procession of representatives of all the
organizations is held inside the Church at Festal Evensong. All the banners are used on this
latter occasion with the exception of the three large ones. These have to be carried on 14 feet
poles and therefore are only suitable for outdoor use.

All the banners have been either made or re-made—in whole or part --by Miss M. Glover,
apart from the large “ Good Shepherd "’ banner acquired in 1961. It is a remarkable coin-
cidence that the first banner was designed and made for the Consecration of the Church as a giit
from Miss Glover of Chichester. Originally it was completely embroidered, but duc to wear,
had to be restored in some way. It was re-made with a blue velvet background by Miss Glover
(our Miss Glover this time !); the original St. Andrew’s Cross, together with a crown and the
word "“Alleluia” were preserved. This is known as the ““FFoundation” banner. Two more banners
were purchased in 1891, both of which have been re-made or restored since. One, similar in size
to the above, is known as the “ Sacrament "’ banner. It was designed by Messrs. Bodley and
Garner, eminent London architects, and worked by Mrs. Woodcock and Miss Jackson. The
banner was presented to the church by the Vicar, the Rev. W. A. Wickham. It has been
restored as near as possible to the original, the description of which was as follows:
“ The banner is made of red figured damask, with heading and stoles of cloth of gold and red
silk brocade. In the centre is the symbol of the Blessed Sacrament (similar to a very old one in
a window of Alveley Church, Shropshire). This is elaborately worked in Chinese gold. Under-
neath is a white silk scroll, with the words, in Latin, * Adore Te Devote ’ (" Thee, we adore ).

The other banner, also bought in 1891, is one of the large ones borne on two 14 feet poles
and used in outdoor processions. It is 6 ft. by 9ft. 6 ins. in size. It has a centre figure of St.
Andrew, with the name of the school on the front, and on the back the Sacred Monogram
with a crown over it. This, with its figure of St. Andrew, and the Foundation Banner, were
designed by the Vicar, the Rev. W. A. Wickham. He was also responsible for designing the
embroidery used in Liverpool Cathedral at that time. The second of the large banners, borne
on two poles, was added in 1927. It was worked by Mrs. Marsh and Miss Glover, the figure
of ““ Madonna and Child ” being designed and made by the Liverpool School of Embroidery.
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